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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF NEW YORK
X
TOMER SHOHAT, Index No. 151446/2014
Plaintiff, VERIFIED
AMENDED COMPLAINT
-against-
BENZION SUKY, 440 WEST 41°" LLC, ERAN SUK],
ERIC PATINO, YOSHIYAHU YOSEF PINTO,
and MENACHEM PINTO,
Defendants.
X

Plaintiff, by his attorneys, Jaroslawicz & Jaros, complaining of the defendants, upon

information and belief, alleges as follows:

THE PARTIES
fle At all times hereinafter mentioned, plaintiff is a citizen of the State of Israel.
2. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Benzion Suky (“Suky”) is a

citizen of the State of New York.

<) At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant 440 West 41* LLC (440”) is a
domestic limited liability company, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the
laws of the State of New York.

4. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant 440 is controlled by defendant
Suky.

9, At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Suky was acting as an agent,

servant and/or employee of defendant 440 and 440 is therefore liable for his actions.



6. Upon information and belief, defendant Suky is acting as a front for
defendant Yoshiyahu Yosef Pinto (“YY Pinto”).

7. Defendant YY Pinto is an extremely wealthy person who purports to be a
rabbi running a synagogue and yeshiva in the United States and in Israel.

8. Defendant Suky was acting as an agent and representative of YY Pinto.

9, Defendant YY Pinto is associated in his business endeavors by his brother,
the defendant Menachem Pinto.

10. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Eran Suki (“Suki”) is the brother of
defendant Suky and has some arrangement to work with him at Metro Apartments, 440
West 41° Street in New York City.

11.  Uponinformation and belief, defendant Suki is in the United States illegally.

12. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Eric Patino (“Patino”) is a
detective for the New York City Police Department.

13. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Patino is a friend of, and
believed to be a business associate of, defendant Suky.

14. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Patino has a personal
relationship with defendant YY Pinto.

15.  Inaddition to being a New York City police detective, Patino is also a real
estate broker and is involved in the real estate business.

16.  Upon information and belief, defendant Patino has various business

relationships with YY Pinto and Menachem Pinto (“the Pinto brothers”).



17.  Patino has used his position as a New York City police detective to assist the
Pinto brothers and Suky in their business and to intimidate persons whom the Pinto
brothers and Suky believes are interfering with their various businesses.

18. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant YY Pinto, as a front for his
various enterprises, operates a so-called school and synagogue at 122 East 58™ Street in
New York City and has a similar operation in Israel.

19. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Suky is a close friend and
business associate of defendant YY Pinto, and his right-hand man and gatekeeper.

20. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Patino was a visitor at
defendant YY Pinto’s operation at 122 East 58™ Street.

21.  Uponinformation and belief, defendant Patino is not a member of the Jewish
faith and has no reason to attend YY Pinto’s synagogue other than that he has various
business dealings with YY Pinto and acts as an enforcer for the Pinto brothers and Suky.

22. At all times hereinafter mentioned, it is believed that defendant YY Pinto is
now under indictment in Israel.

23.  According to the media in Israel, the reason YY Pinto was indicted was that
he had previously attempted to bribe a police officer with two hundred thousand dollars
in cash and when the police officer turned himin, YY Pinto then soughta compromise with
the prosecutor’s office by turning in another police officer who was the head of what in
Israel is equivalent to the FBI in the United States, by claiming that, among other things,

that police officer and/ or his family was given free access at the 440 West 41* Street facility.



24. At all times hereinafter mentioned, YY Pinto, who purports to be a poor
rabbi, has posted millions of dollars in bail after being indicted in Israel in order to be
permitted to leave that country and return to the United States.

25. At all times hereinafter mentioned, defendant Menachem Pinto (“M Pinto)
is the brother of defendant YY Pinto.

26.  Defendant Menachem Pinto is involved with and associated in numerous of
his brother YY Pinto’s various business dealings and acts as YY Pinto’s agent and co-
conspirator.

THE UNDERLYING FACTS

27.  In or about March 2012, plaintiff began representing a group who had
invested approximately $10.5 million dollars in the property known as Metro Apartments
at 440 West 41% Street, New York, New York; plaintiff is also one of the investors in the
group.

28.  Defendant Suky, who is not part of plaintiff's investment group, also
purports to be an investor in the Metro Apartments but it is believed that he is acting, at
least in part, as a front for YY Pinto and/or others.

29.  Plaintiff suspected that certain monies were being misappropriated by
defendants Suky, Suki and YY Pinto, and that the Metro Apartments, in which plaintiff’s
group had invested approximately $10.5 million dollars in loans on which the interest was

not being paid as required, was being mismanaged, particularly by defendant Suky.



30.  Accordingly, plaintiff came to the United States and reviewed the books and
records of the Metro Apartments.

31.  Plaintiff discovered that large sums of money were missing and he began to
document the improper activities, misappropriation of funds and mismanagement of the
Metro Apartments by defendants Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers.

32.  Among other things, Suky would take personal loans and then seek to shift
that debt on the Metro Apartments.

33.  Among other things Suky would pay his and YY Pinto’s personal expenses
out of Metro Apartments.

34,  Inaddition, among other things, in a hotel that was allegedly losing money
and not paying its mortgage, Suky was paying himself nearly half a million dollars in so-
called “management” fees with additional fees for his brother Suki, all of which were
unwarranted and highly excessive, even for a successful hotel.

35.  Defendant YY Pinto has a close relationship with a certain Congressman
Grimm from Staten Island.

36.  Itisalleged that YY Pinto and his group were one of the chief fund raisers for
Congressman Grimm.

37.  Congressman Grimm is now under indictment, as reported in the media.

38.  YY Pinto and Suky agreed to make a contribution of $4800 (Exhibit A) from

the Metro Apartments, which is located in Manhattan, to the campaign of Congressman



Grimm who is from Staten Island. This is an obvious misuse of the Metro Apartments’
funds.

39.  Inaddition, Suky would rent apartments at the Metro Apartments on a daily
basis without a hotel permit. In fact, according to the media defendant Suky has filed an
affidavit in Israel where he stated that he and defendant YY Pinto would arrange for
numerous persons -- with whom the Pinto Brothers were involved in their various
enterprises, having nothing to do with the synagogue which YY Pinto was allegedly
operating on 58" Street in New York City - to stay at the Metro Apartments for free which
he had permitted.

40.  Inorabout December 2012, plaintiff revealed to YY Pinto part of what he had
discovered, that Suky was misappropriating funds and mismanaging the Metro
Apartments.

41.  YY Pinto requested plaintiff not to go the police, not to go to an attorney, and
not to commence an action, and stated he would speak to Suky and arranged for the
interests of the plaintiff and the pensioners he represented to be bought out.

42, YY Pinto did not reveal to the plaintiff that Suky was acting as his agent and
that he was intimately involved with and doing business with persons staying at the Metro
Apartments, and that YY Pinto had a relationship, the full extent of which is not yet
known, with defendant Patino.

43.  Suky requested that plaintiff meet with defendant YY Pinto on numerous

occasions to attempt to resolve their dispute in good faith without lawyers.



44.  Atthattime Suky did notreveal to the plaintiff that he was acting as an alter-
ego for the Pinto brothers and that the Pinto brothers were fully aware of what was taking
place at the Metro Apartments.

45.  Defendant YY Pinto and Suky directed plaintiff to cease his investigation and
warned plaintiff that if he continued the investigation he would come to bodily harm
and/or be arrested by their friend in the Police Department, specifically the defendant
Patino.

46. Defendant Suki, on his own behalf and on behalf of YY Pinto, threatened
plaintiff with bodily harm if plaintiff did not cease his investigation.

47.  Plaintiff refused to discontinue his investigation of Suky and Suki’s
misappropriation of funds and mismanagement of the Metro Apartments, benefitting
themselves and on behalf of the Pinto brothers.

48.  Plaintiff had sent a letter to the bank that no checks signed by Suky alone
should be honored without a second signature (Exhibit B). In addition, a board meeting
was held on February 18, 2013 and the board was presented with the information plaintiff
had gathered concerning Suky’s misconduct and misappropriation of funds.

49. Atthattime, in mid-February 2013, defendant M Pinto contacted the plaintiff
and advised him that he and his brother YY Pinto could no longer protect the plaintiff and
he should leave the country and return to Israel, otherwise they and Suky would have their

co-conspirator Patino, who is a New York City police detective arrest him.



50.  Thereafter defendant Suky, acting on his own behalf and on behalf of the
Pinto brothers, willfully and fraudulently alleged among other things that plaintiff had
stolen valuable property, had assumed another identity to obtain goods, had wrongfully
gained access to the Metro Apartments’s computers, was in possession of stolen property,
and various other allegations (Exhibit D).

51.  Defendants Suky, YY Pinto and Suki then arranged for their co-conspirator,
defendant Patino to arrest the plaintiff and charge him with crimes which they knew he
had not committed and which criminal proceeding was initiated solely to intimidate the
plaintiff and get him out of the way so that the Pinto brothers and Suky could continue to
raid the assets of the Metro Apartments for their own benefit.

52.  When Patino arrived at the Metro Apartments to arrest the plaintiff, he was
accompanied by several other police officers to give the appearance this was a legitimate
police activity and to intimidate the plaintiff.

53. Patino - in direct violation of his obligations as a police detective if, in fact,
a crime had been committed - then advised the plaintiff that if he went to lunch with him
and spoke to him, he would set plaintiff free; if not, he would have plaintiff put in a cell
downtown where all sorts of criminals were and plaintiff would risk getting injured.

54.  Plaintiff refused to go to lunch with Patino and Patino then took the plaintiff
to the police precinct to be processed as an alleged criminal and then to be transported to

the courthouse on Centre Street.



55.  While plaintiff was in a cell at the precinct, defendant Patino spoke to
defendant Suky and was informed by Suky that they had not been able to find plaintiff’s
computer at the Metro Apartments. At that point, Patino requested that the plaintiff turn
his computer over to him if he wanted to be released from jail.

56.  After plaintiff was arrested and after plaintiff’s attorney had arrived at the
precinct and then left the precinct to go to the courthouse to await plaintiff’s arrival, Patino
again advised plaintiff that if he turned over the computer and all the information he had
gathered regarding the Pintos’ and Suky’s malfeasance, he would release him from jail; if
not, he would remain in jail.

57.  Patino advised the plaintiff that if he did not cooperate, Patino would see to
it that plaintiff was not brought downtown to the courthouse to be processed until a time
of day when plaintiff would, of necessity, be required to spend at least one night in jail.

58.  In order to accomplish his purpose, Patino, accompanied by another police
officer, whose name is not known, drove the plaintiff around the city. Patino did so as if
it were a game, by putting the plaintiff in a police vehicle, driving him around for a period
of time and then returning the plaintiff to the precinct and a cell, claiming there was too
much traffic and they would try again later.

59.  On February 22, 2013, Patino maliciously, willfully and falsely swore out a
felony complaint against the plaintiff of Grand Larceny in the Third Degree (Exhibit C)

without any basis in fact and knowing the allegation to be totally false.



60.  Patino did so in order to ensure that plaintiff would be confined in jail for at
least one day and would have serious charges pending against him to put pressure on
plaintiff not to reveal what he had learned about monies being misappropriated by Suky
on his own behalf and on behalf of the Pinto brothers.

61.  Plaintiff was kept in jail and his passport taken away so that he could not
leave the United States.

62. After plaintiff was released from jail, Patino, on behalf of himself and the co-
defendants Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers, further threatened him that if he went to the
Metro Apartments he would have plaintiff arrested for trespassing and alleging tampering
with witnesses, although plaintiff, as a part owner, had an absolute right to be at the Metro
Apartments. Patino did so in order to prevent plaintiff from obtaining further information
about the money being misappropriated from the Metro Apartments by the co-defendants.

63.  The matter was referred to the New York County District Attorney’s Office
and after an investigation, all charges against the plaintiff were dismissed on or about April
26, 2013 (Exhibit E).

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

64. The defendants Suky, Suki and the Pinto Brothers, to benefit themselves in
a civil dispute over the manner in which the Metro Apartments was being managed and
as to funds being misappropriated, and to prevent plaintiff from uncovering Suky and

Suki’s improper and fraudulent conduct on behalf of themselves and the Pinto brothers,
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caused their associate, defendant Patino, to arrest by the plaintiff by filing knowingly false
criminal charges against the plaintiff.

65.  As aresult of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff was falsely arrested by Patino
and imprisoned; plaintiff’s reputation was harmed; plaintiff suffered emotional harm and
mental anguish and distress; paid over fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) in legal fees to a
criminal lawyer in order to protect and defend himself; was required to remain in the
United States and pay rent and incur other expenses for months; could not attend to his
usual duties; and plaintiff has been otherwise damaged.

66. By reason of the foregoing, defendants are jointly and severally liable
pursuant to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

67.  Itis hereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action
is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendants
acted with reckless disregard for others.

68. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all of his damages,
including punitive damages, from the defendants in an amount not to exceed the sum of
Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

69.  Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and realleges each of the foregoing allegations

with the same force and effect as if more fully set forth at length herein.
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70.  Defendants caused plaintiff to be maliciously prosecuted, knowing there was
no basis for any of the claims brought against him or for the plaintiff to be prosecuted, and
when the New York County District Attorney investigated the matter, all charges were, in
fact, dismissed (Exhibit C).

71.  Defendants Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers commenced and continued to
bring fraudulent criminal charges against the plaintiff and maliciously prosecuted the
plaintiff.

72.  Infact, all the criminal charges against the plaintiff were dismissed and the
proceedings terminated in favor of the plaintiff.

73.  There was never any basis or probable cause set forth for bringing or
continuing any criminal proceeding against the plaintiff.

74.  Defendants acted with actual malice in attempting to intimidate the plaintiff
not to continue his investigation into the unethical wrongdoings and misappropriation of
funds by Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers.

75.  Asaresult of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff was damaged in that he was put
into a jail cell, was caused to pay fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) in legal fees to protect
himself from the criminal charges falsely brought against him; suffered severe emotional
distress being in a foreign country and spending a night in jail although he had committed
no crime; was forced to stay in the United States at great expense for several months until
the District Attorney had had an opportunity to investigate the criminal charges and to

dismiss them all.
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76. By reason of the foregoing, defendants are jointly and severally liable
pursuant to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

77.  Itishereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action
is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendants
acted with reckless disregard for others.

78. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all of his damages,
including punitive damages, from the defendants in an amount not to exceed the sum of
Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

79.  Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and realleges each of the foregoing allegations
with the same force and effect as if more fully set forth at length herein.

80.  Defendants caused plaintiff to be falsely arrested and prosecuted in order to
attempt to intimidate plaintiff from continuing with his investigation into the wrongdoing
of the defendants at the Metro Apartments.

81.  Defendants’ purpose was to intimidate the plaintiff and maliciously inflict
emotional distress upon the plaintiff so as to dissuade him from continuing with his
investigation into the wrongdoing of Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers.

82. By doing so, defendants, with the aid of Patino, a New York City police

detective, acting at their direction and knowing there was no basis for any criminal
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charges, did inflict and maliciously inflict emotional distress upon the plaintiff and did so
without any basis.

83.  Defendants’ conduct was so outrageous in character and extreme in degree
so as to surpass the limits of decency and so as to be regarded as intolerable in a civil
society.

84.  To cause someone to be falsely arrested on fabricated charges by a police
officer acting as a co-conspirator for the purpose of preventing an investigation into
misconduct by Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers, is outrageous and cannot be tolerated.

85.  Asaresult of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff was damaged as set forth above.

86. By reason of the foregoing, defendants are jointly and severally liable
pursuant to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

87.  Itis hereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action
is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendants
acted with reckless disregard for others.

88. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all of his damages,

including punitive damages, from the defendants in an amount not to exceed the sum of

Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).
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AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST DEFENDANTS BENZION SUKY,
440 WEST 415" LLC and ERAN SUKI

89.  Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and realleges each of the foregoing allegations
with the same force and effect as if more fully set forth at length herein.

90.  DefendantSuky, acting on behalf of himself and the Pinto brothers, defamed
the plaintiff by falsely claiming plaintiff had misappropriated funds, and charging him
with committing a variety of crimes.

91.  Defendant Suky on behalf of himself and the Pinto brothers made these
statements to defendant Patino. These statements were made on or about February 21,
2013.

92.  Sukymade these statements to Patino at the Metro Apartments where among
other things Suky falsely stated, knowing his statements to be false, that plaintiff had on
or about February 13, 2013 allegedly taken fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) in US
currency from a petty cash box at the Metro Apartments and misappropriated it, and
caused the plaintiff to be charged with grand larceny in the third degree.

93, On that same date, time, and place, Suky likewise falsely advised Patino that
plaintiff had wrongfully gained access to the Metro Apartments’ computers and failed to
account for various funds.

94,  On or about May 1, 2014, during a telephone conversation defendant Suky,
on behalf of himself and the Pinto brothers, advised Terrence McLaughlin, who was acting

as attorney for the plaintiff's entity, that the plaintiff was a “crook” and a “criminal,” was
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being investigated by the FBI, that plaintiff was a liar, that plaintiff was willfully creating
baseless litigation in order to enrich his position. All of these statements made by Suky on
behalf of himself and the Pinto brothers, were willfully false and made in an attempt to
damage plaintiff’s reputation with plaintiff’s own attorney.

95.  Byreason of defendant’s defamatory statements set forth above plaintiff has
been damaged in that he was falsely arrested, needlessly prosecuted, his reputation has
been damaged, he was caused to expend legal fees to extricate himself from the false
criminal charges; suffered emotional distress; and has been otherwise damaged.

96. By reason of the defendants’ defamation, plaintiff has been damaged as set
forth above.

97. By reason of the foregoing, defendants are jointly and severally liable
pursuant to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

98.  Itishereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action
is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendants
acted with reckless disregard for others.

99. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all of his damages,

including punitive damages, from the defendants in an amount not to exceed the sum of

Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).
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AS AND FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST DEFENDANT ERIC PATINO

100. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and realleges each of the foregoing allegations
with the same force and effect as if more fully set forth at length herein.

101. DefendantPatino, acting under the color of State Law and using the authority
vested in him as a New York City police detective, without any basis and knowing that
the plaintiff had not committed any crime, at the behest of the co-defendants, deprived
plaintiff of his civil and federal constitutional rights and in direct violation of 42 U.S.C.
1983.

102.  Among other things, defendant used excessive force; caused plaintiff to be
wrongfully arrested and wrongfully prosecuted; caused plaintiff to be taken to prison;
caused plaintiff to have criminal charges brought against him; deliberately caused plaintiff
to be delayed from being processed so that he would have to spend at least one night in
jail; and otherwise violated plaintiff’s civil and federal constitutional rights without any
basis.

103.  As a result of defendant’s conduct, plaintiff has been damaged as set forth
above.

104. By reason of the foregoing, defendant is jointly and severally liable pursuant
to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

105. Itis hereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action

is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
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provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendant
acted with reckless disregard for others.

106. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all damages,
including actual and punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
1983 and 42 U.S.C. 1988.

AS AND FOR A SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
AS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

107. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and realleges each of the foregoing allegations
with the same force and effect as if more fully set forth at length herein.

108. Defendants Suky, Suki and the Pinto brothers conspired with Patino to
deprive plaintiff of his civil rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983 and 42 U.S.C. 1985.

109. Defendants used Patino’s position as a police detective in the New York City
Police Department to cause plaintiff to be falsely arrested; maliciously caused false charges
to be brought against him; to be maliciously prosecuted and wrongfully imprisoned; and
otherwise violated plaintiff’s rights as set forth.

110. The defendants had false charges brought against the plaintiff, which they
all knew to be false, had him arrested, made certain he would have to spend at least one
night injail, and wrongfully directed plaintiff not to be at the Metro Apartments although
he had an absolute right to be there, all of this made under color of state law and with the
abuse of Patino’s position as a police detective in the New York City Police Department.

111.  As a result of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has been damaged as set forth

above,
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112. By reason of the foregoing, defendants are jointly and severally liable
pursuant to the exceptions set forth in the CPLR.

113.  Itis hereby alleged pursuant to CPLR 1603 that the foregoing cause of action
is exempt from the operation of CPLR 1601 by reason of one or more of the exemptions
provided in CPLR 1602, including but not limited to CPLR 1602(7) in that the defendants
acted with reckless disregard for others.

114. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to recover all damages,
including actual and punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
1983 and 42 U.S.C. 1988.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands judgment against the defendants, jointly and
severally, to recover all damages, all together with the costs and disbursements of this
action.

JAROSLAWICZ & JAROS, LLC
Attorneys for Plaintiff

225 Broadway, 24" Floor

New York, New York 10007
(212) 27,2780 ) //

! e F y = 0
By: / \ ,‘,- ':‘ ”_‘ /_ . -

DavidTaroslawicz \
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DAVID JAROSLAWICZ, a member of the firm of JAROSLAWICZ & JAROS, LLC,
attorneys for the plaintiff in the within action, duly admitted to practice in the Courts of
the State of New York, affirms the following statements to be true under the penalties of
perjury, pursuant to Rule 2016 of the CPLR:

That he has read the foregoing Complaint
and knows the contents thereof; that the same is true to his own knowledge except as to
those matters therein stated to be alleged upon information and belief, and that as to those
matters, he believes them to be true.

Affiant further states that the source of his information and the grounds of his belief
are derived from the file maintained in the normal course of business of the attorneys for
the plaintiff.

Affiant further states that the reason this affirmation is not made by the plaintiff is
that the plaintiff does not reside in New York County.

Dated: New York, New York
July 17, 2014

~ j 2
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o L -
F F f

DAVID JAROSLAWICZ



EXHIBIT A



US Suite Management LLC
Transaction Report
January 2009 - December 2011

Date Transaction Type  Num Name Memo/Description  Account Split Amount Balance
Donation
06/28/2010  Check 1221 Michael Grimm Donation  US Suites  4,800.00  4,800.00
For Congress Mgt TD
Bank
9734
07/26/2010  Check 1247  Ahtarat Haim Donatior-\ us Suite 1_01.00 4,901.00
Mgt TD
Bank
9734
07/27/2010  Bill NOAHIDE.ORG  Donation Donation  Accounts 101.00  5,002.00
Payable
Total for Donation $5,002.00
TOTAL $5,002.00

Sunday, Nov 25, 2012 08:51:41 AM PST GMT+2 - Accrual Basis

This report was created using QuickBooks Online.



EXHIBIT B



3 KI © Amioon Slidaketh Saul Adennh
= 3 B k: o Yasoor Yisneh Kiicin Adles
i A 4 CO. RRicherd M. Robens * Jonathan Aur

leduak Zisman brahitn Arasiucea
Moshe H. Ne‘ainan lGit Aand
Liar Aviram Adva Azrulay
Muscom Tewer, 4 Berkowttz €, Tel Aviv B123R. Israe] ::Z:“;a%snll:bmn }r;:r::g:x‘i
Tel: 923 7778333 Faxe 972 3 77178444 Shmul Hamoa D2vid Bar-Fl
Mmom . Revial Ber-Ann Staloin Bals. CPA
comailtaunager@shibolei.com OraSkmielkZatzmen  * Moty DenrYera
offictal webejte twww shibolct.com O Srapire Adi Binsein
Eron Balimt Saar Binyamin
Limor Peled Michal Barovshy
Gadi Owzan Viz Bulshpan
Ofer Manor Michal Cannel
. Miclul Barak Liren Cohen
Tel-Aviv, February 14, 2013 {j Leshers Oren Cohen
Amls Fisher Eiral Davidscn
Ref: 11820 Gil Roserbery Efio\ Dayogi
Ofer Ben-Yelhuda *  Meital Dror
Orit Marom-Albeck Oral Eslicl
Hadas Reccah-Dvir Eran Gaffiiel
s AmirS lHescu Mirabetlo Gazit
Verced Horesh Noa Gekenman
To: ¢ RanBomk Barak Goban
. Roy Kubovsky Elod Greiner
"% Shelly Bl 2ak David Hadar
TD Bank S
9" Ave corner of West 42 nd Strect * Gen Helimm liny Kellnes
T Mii Bickel Keven Klein
Bermy Kabft Trzz Less-Gross
Yaes| Koren. CPA Avignil Levine
Dr. Yuve) Komiel . m-’)ﬁ';zﬂ
Without prejudice . Jehopr T OE
; Meyrev Oren
1. Anihud Beni-Porath Shatmt Pelcl
Sivan Pimer
Elinor Potak.
Ronft Roghkovsky
Avi Savitki
Pinhas Shahar
Efmt Shamyar
Ll Sliinar
Ido Shomrony
Adi Tuval Zndok
Guy Yelutiel
Re: US Suite Management LLC and US Suite LLC - + Admined oo inNew Yark

s Admilled also in Englomd

Bank Account number 4246199734

On bchalf of our client, U-Trend New York Investment L.P, we are contacting you urgently, with
the demand, as follows:

. Our client, U-Trend New York Investment L.P (limited partnership registered in British
Virgin Islands), holds in equal parts (50%) with Aura Investment Ltd (an Israeli public
company), a Delaware corporation named - US-Suite Corp.

US Suite Corp. is the controlling shareholder (70%) and the managing partner of US Suite
LLC {the "Company") which is the sole owner of an apartment hotel located in 440 West
41 St., NYC (the "Property"). In addition, US Suite Corp. holds 70% of the shares of the
Property's management company, US Suite Management LLC (the management company),
whose bank account is managed at your branch (the "Bank Account"),

[\8)

The minority shareholder of the Property and both of the companies, which holds a mere
30% of the Company's shares, 440 West 41 St.street LLC, managed by Mr. Benzion Suky.

According lo the agreements between the shareholders of the Company, the actions in the
bark accounts of the Company need to be done by at delegates fron the 2 shareliolders.
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Our client recently discovered, that the minotity shareholder has been operating the Bank
Account, on his own, not with according to the agreements between the shareholders and
betraying our client's trust, while using the Bank Account not for putposes which it was
designated, and also that some of the money from the Bank account was used for the
interests and benefits of Mr. Benzion Suky and the peeple on his behalf.

Our client is currently pursuing and tracking all those unacceptable actions committed by
Mr. Suky, which have already caused severe damages to vur client.

. For now, we ask you to immediately do the following:

(a) Cease accepting instructions (by phone, in person or in writing) from Mr. Suky or
anyone on hig behalf in connection with the Bank Account, without a written approval
from our client's representative Mr. Tomer Shohat (or other representative which our
client will inform you).

(b) To inform our client of any request on Mr. Suky's behalf immediately.

(c) Caneel all debit cards regarding the Bank Account;

You are requested to confirm the aforementioned by February 14, 2013.

We would like to nete and emphasize, that we will consider you direetly responsible for any

damage caused to ow client due to an approval of any action requested by Mr. Suky,
without the consent of our client.

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive or restrict any action and/or claim and/or demand
and/or suit available to our client.

Respectfully,
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ExHIBIT C



Fingerprint Response Summary

NYSID 2185624 ORE: NYHRMNLT NYCPD PO 010

NYSID: 12185629K I'BI Numbey: Curront Transaction Name: TOMAR SHOHAT
Iy Nwmber; M10745 Curvent Arvest Number: M13616584  DOB:May 09, 1082

Peolration Client 104 U Stutys;

9 Alexty

* See Additional Information at the botlom of this response for more banners pertaining to the criminal history

Fingerprint Response

ORI NY0330010
NYCPD PCT 010
Aftention: A fingerpeint geareh shows wo availahle priov NYS information for this individual,

Identification  Smmonary  Crimimal listory  Job/bLlcense  Wanted  Missing  NCIC/IN

Q Trausaction Data

Name: TOMAR SHOHAT
Transaction ID: 16033995

Agency ORI: NYO0330010

SSN:

Type of Submission: ARREST

Date Iingerprinted: February 21, 2013
Renson Fingerprinted; Adult Arrest

Arrest/Charge Tafarmation
Aviest Date:Februaiv 21 20123 05:00 pn (17:00:00)

Name:

Date of Birth:
US Citizen:
Sexs

Race:
Ethnicity:
Height:
Weight:

Age at time of crime/arrest:
Address:

Tax Number:
Place of Arrest:
Arvest Type:
Date of Crime:
Place of Crinte:

Criminal Justlee Tracking Nu.:

Arvesting Ageney:
Arresting Officer JD;
Arrest Number:

TOMAR SHOHAT
May 09, 1982

Male

While

Not Hispanic
509"

165

30

440 WIiST 41 STRE, MANHATTAN, NY
MI10745

NYCPFD 10
Unknown
February 13, 2013
NYCPD 10
(59226611,
NYCPD PCT 010
919909
M13616584



Arralgnment: New York Coynty Crijninnl Coury
Arrest Charges:
-- Grand Lare-2nd:Property Value Exceeds $50,000

PL15540  Sub 0l Class C Fdony Degres 2 NCIC 2399
-~ ldentity Theft 1st:Assine Avother's Identity-Obtain Goods Worth &gt;%2000

PL1%0.80  Sub 01 Class D Felony Degrec | NCIC 2699
- Compater Trespass: Gains Access To Computer Materiel

PL1S6,10  Sub 02 Class E Felony Degree D NCIC 5707
-- Criminal Possession Stolen Propeily-5Sih Degree

’L165.40 Class A Misdenicanor Degree S NCIC 2804
-- Unlawful Possession Personal D 3id: Further The Conanission Of A Crime

PL1%0.81 Class A Misdemeanor Degiee 3 NCIC 2699

Q Transaction Status Infurmation

Actlvity Date/l'ime Elapsed

Initial Transaction Received February 21, 2013 07:24:52 pin

Ounline Data Received February 21, 2013 07:24:52 pm

Transaction Compleled February 21, 2013 07:27:30 pm 0 Hour(s) 3 Minute(s)
Rapsheet Produced February 21, 2013 07:27:32 pm

@ Wanted Information
There is no NY'S Wanted Intormation associated with this history,

9 Missing Person Information
There is no NYS Missing Information nssaciated with this history.

Federal NCIC, I gnd/or FRI Response

The outstanding response(s) indicated below will be forwarded to your in-box upon receipt by DCIS. If you do not receive one or
more of the indicated respoascs, please contact that state or agency dircetly.

@ NCIC Tnformation

The following information is provided in response to your request for a search of the NCIC Person files based on:

Name: TOMAR SHOIAT
Sex: Male

Race: White

Datce of Birth; May 09, 1982

B0 NCLO AART NAN/SHTHAT POMAR DOR/II9BZOEC9 RAC /W

TAGK KEY LW SUFARCISS WANTED PRABON FYLY F
PN AND) MiSD WOR RECORDS THRICATING P
RADTTTAN FROM THE TROUIRING AGFRUY 'S 100 ATLO
'S ARE SEAKRCHAED WITHOUT LIiMITATIONS.

TOREGRREGBAEE NP

DRREONS

sease alany of e i emaios proeserded i this comppraicoed Coss Thvon, 1o yeaben o

WARNING: i

dvdeeny o mcares sl e vl ny sedoret e TR 42 LR 37T R

SUDOT s e LIse 2010 Ty gt o A eaiend

R AT TS S AN A R IO CENT (88
Wl OIS Desivoy mdter e and regquest e apdated vap sheet tor subseanent neeis
i tinng free i 5O,

b e e somplere s ine

New York State Division of Cririnal Justice Services
4 Towsr Place
Abany NY 12202-3764
Tel: 1-800-262-DCI3

Mihazl © Green, Exacutive Deputy Comnmssioner of the M¥5 Division of Crimmnal histice Services



Additional Fingerprint Response

ORI NY0330010
NYCPD PCT 010
NYSID: 12185624K
Altentions A fingerpaint search shavs no nvallable prine NYS information tor this indfvidual,

New York State Division of Crirninal Justice Sexvices
4 Tower Place
Abany NY 12203-3764
Tsl: 1-800-262-DCJS
Mirthael C. Green, Executive Deputy Commussioney of the NS Division of Criminal Justice Servioss

© Transaction Data +
Name: TOMAR SHOHAT
Transaction ID; 16033995
Agency ORL: NY0330010
SSN:
Type of Submission: ARREST
Date Fingerprinted: February 21, 2013
Reason Fingerpriated: Adult Arvest

Arrest/Charge Information
Arrest Date:February 21, 2013 05:00 pm (17:00:00)

Name: TOMAR SHOHAT

Date of Birth: May 09, 1982

US Citizen:

Sex; Male

Race: White

Ethntelty: Not Hispanic

Helght: 509

Weight: 165

Age at tinie of crime/arvest: 30

Address: 440 WEST 41 STRE, MANHATTAN, NY
Fax Number: MI10745

Place of Arrest; NYCPD 10

Arvest Type: Unknown

Date of Crime: February 13, 2013

Place of Crime: NYCPD 1Y

Criminal Justlee Trucking No.: 659226611,

Arresting Agency: NYCPp ¢l 0o

Arresting Officer 1D 919909

Arrest Number: M13616584

Arraignment: New York County Crimingl Coury

Arrest Charges:
-- Grand Lairg-2nd:Propetty Value ixceeds $50,000

PL155.40  Sub Class C Fclony Degive 2 MGIC 2389
- Identity Thel Ist:Asaume Annther's ldentity Obtain Goads Worth &g52000 ‘

PL120.80  Subdl Class D Feclony Duprae | NG 200y
-~ Computer Trespass: Gains Access To Computer Material

PLSGI0  Sub 02 Class E Felony iegree ) NS
-- Criminal Pogscession Stazen Properiv-3th Degree

NCI 2964

PrLi6s40 Class A Mizdemeaunr Dlevrig S

Jetauagy 20, 703 07 28: 57 om



-- Unlawful Passession Personal 1D 3rd: Further The Commission Of A Crime
PL.190.81 Class A Misdemeanor Degree 3

@ Transaction Status Information

Activity Date/Time Elapsed

Initial Transaction Received February 21, 2013 07:24:52 pm

Online Data Received February 21, 2013 07:24;52 pm

Transaction Completed February 21, 2013 07:27:30 pm 0 Hour(s) 3 Minute(s)
Rapshect Produced February 21, 2013 07:28:57 pm

@ FBI Identification Results

NCIC 2699

*

The FBI identification response, received on February 21, 2013 indicated no FBI data other than New York State bistory. The information
previously provided in your NYS Criminal Justice Scrvices fingerprint response represents the computerized history for this individual.

fetruary 21, 2013 I7:28:37 pm
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Fay Server 2/21/2013 ©:38:38 PM  PAGL 2/002 Fax berver
Page 1 oLl
CRIMDNAL COURT OV AHE CITY O NEW YORIC
[MR1 Y OF N [SARY TYORK _ o R
THE PEQPLE OF THE STATH OF NEW YORIC

against- FELONY

Tomar Shohat (M 30), A A Jomic Ma
\ Jomic Masten

Detenclant (212) 335-40)83

Detective Ede Patino, Shisld 3122 of the 10t Precinct Detectlve Squod, states as
Tollows:

The defendant is charged with:

P 155.35()) Grond Lavceny in the Third Degrec
(defendlant #1t ) couvnt)

At the tmes and places desciibed below in the County and Statc of New Yotk, the
clefendant stole propecty and the value of the propesty exceeded three thousand dolints.
Tba facinal basis for this charge ir as follnws;

{ 9m infarmed by an incdividuoal known w0 the Distitct Anowney's Oftice. hat filarmant 1a
a custodiai of the peiy cosh mwincined at 440 W, ater Sereez., anel dhat delendsne goined aeecis w
the pery cash held inoa locked conminey by unaukoried e ol the key to the locked conm e and
stole B15.000 in Unijed Sitas cuirency henween :1]}]):fuxinmu:l) Liemeerber, 1, 2012 and el 20,
20013,

Talse statements made in this writtety instrament ace punluhnb]e ns a class A misdemeanor
pukaunng ta s uon 210.45 of the Penal Law, npd as other crimes,
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EXHIBIT K



HETH, THE Cop




